## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/4/2025 4:24 PM

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 7
1. Trial evidence and first sentencing
2. Appeal and re-sentencing.
E. ARGUMENT 7
(1). At <u>de novo</u> re-sentencing, Juan Macias was entitled to an exceptional sentence below the standard range
a. Mitigating factors can support an exceptional sentence where there are compelling reasons to impose a downward departure sentence and the term proposed is not clearly too lenient.
b. <u>Standard of review - failure to address all proffered</u> mitigating factors.
c. Impaired capacity and a perception of threat resulting in a "failed defense" are statutory mitigating factors which are interrelated in this case, as a result of Mr. Macias' PTSD and neurodevelopmental disorders
d. Mr. Macias' capacity was significantly impaired, and his disorders, including a heightened sense of fear, caused him to

lack a capacity to appreciate wrongfulness, and caused him to
believe he was rightly defending himself
(i).Dr. Marnee Miller first reviewed the prior evaluations of Mr. Macias
(ii).Dr. Miller determined that Mr. Macias
had limited capacity to appreciate wrongful
conduct and a heightened sense of fear
e. The fact that Juan Macias' prior convictions for purposes of his offender score were committed when he was the age of a juvenile is a mitigating factor
(i).Review is warranted 11
(ii).This issue may be raised
(2). The 2008 judgment affirmatively indicates it was entered without jurisdiction of the court
F. CONCLUSION

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

STATUTES AND COURT RULES
RCW 9.94A.390 8
RCW 9.94A.525(1)
RCW 9.94A.535(1)(a)
RCW 9.94A.535(1)(c)
RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e)
RCW 9.94A.535(c)
RCW 13.04.110(3)
RCW 13.04.030
RAP 13.4(b)
WASHINGTON CASES
State v. Alexander, 125 Wn.2d 717, 888 P.2d 1176 (1995) 26
State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 713 P.2d 719 (1986) 30
State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, P.3d 343 (2018) 17
<u>In re PRP of Dalluge</u> , 152 Wn.2d 772, 100 P.3d 279 (2004) . 29
State v. Graham, 181 Wn.2d 878, 337 P.3d 319 (2014) 22
State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) 7,9
State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409
(2017)
State v. Hutsell, 120 Wn.2d 913, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993) 11
State v. Jeannotte, 133 Wn.2d 847, 947 P.2d 1192 (1997) 10
State v. Law, 154 Wn.2d 85, 110 P.3d 717 (2005) 9
State v. Mora, 138 Wn.2d 43, 977 P.2d 564 (1999) 29
State v. Lewis, 29 Wn. App.2d 565, 541 P.3d 1051 (2024) 3
State v. McGill, 112 Wn. App. 95, 47 P.3d 173 (2002) 8
<u>In re Monschke</u> , 197 Wn.2d 305, 482 P.3d 276 (2021) 18,19
State v. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d 809, 446 P.3d 609 (2019) 23
State v. Nysta, 168 Wn. App. 30, 275 P.3d 1162 (2012) 26
State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) 7,8,19
State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d 125, 736 P.2d 1065 (1987) 17
State v. Smith, 139 Wn. App. 600, 161 P.3d 483 (2007) 10

UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT CASES
Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d
825 (2010)
Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541, 16 L.Ed.2d 84, 86 S.Ct.
1045 (1966)
Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2462, 183 L.
Ed. 2d 407 (2012)
Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1
(2005)
Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 30 S. Ct. 544, 54 L. Ed.
793 (1910)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Const. art. I, § 14
PRACTICE GUIDES
D.Boerner, Sentencing in Washington (1985)

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Juan Macias was the appellant below in COA No. 86055-1-I, and is the Petitioner herein.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Mr. Macias seeks review of the decision issued by Division One on May 5, 2025. Appx.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

1. Did the re-sentencing court abuse its discretion by merely reiterating the facts of the present, 2018 incident and denying the motion for an exceptional sentence where forensic neuropsychological evaluations of Mr. Macias showed that he was suffering from several serious mental disorders at the time of the offense, the result of which, based on expert testimony, was that "[t]he defendant's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct, or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law, was significantly impaired, warranting a sentence below the standard range under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e)?

- 2. For similar reasons as set forth by the forensic psychological evaluations of Mr. Macias, did the court abuse its discretion by denying the motion for an exceptional sentence where, given the nature of several mental disorders that caused Mr. Macias to have a heighted perception of threat, and the uncontroverted evidence that the decedent had held a gun to Mr. Macias' head during a robbery five weeks earlier, the victim in this case was a "provoker of the incident, warranting a sentence below the standard range under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(a)?"
- 3. Was an exceptional sentence warranted where the defendant committed the crime under duress, coercion, threat, or compulsion insufficient to constitute a complete defense but which significantly affected his conduct, under RCW 9.94A.535(1)(c)?
- 4. Did the court abuse its discretion at <u>de novo</u> resentencing when it denied the defense motion for an exceptional sentence where Mr. Macias showed that his 2008

convictions were committed as a juvenile, as recognized by law for purposes of current offenses and prior crimes, and as attested to by the forensic psychological assessments of Mr.

Macias who described his then existing lack of development of the normal qualities of maturation?

4. Must Mr. Macias' 2008 conviction for second degree robbery be excluded from his offender score, where the conviction was facially invalid for the court's failure to address the <u>Kent</u> factors before decline?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial evidence and first sentencing.

Juan Macias, then age 27, was charged with first degree murder of Dallas Esparza, pursuant to RCW 9A.32.030(a). CP 1-2. He was also charged with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm pursuant to RCW 9.41.040(1) and RCW 9.41.010. CP 1-2. Mr. Macias was accused of the February 7, 2018, shooting of Mr. Esparza near a taco truck in the South

Park neighborhood, which resulted in injuries that led to his death at Harborview Hospital a week later. CP 3, 5.

Mr. Macias told police that he saw Mr. Esparza and recognized him as the person who came up to him and robbed him at gunpoint on New Year's Eve. Mr. Macias explained that he shot Mr. Esparza because he feared for his life and acted in self-defense. CP 3-5. This defense failed at trial. See CP 11.

### 2. Appeal and re-sentencing.

Following appeal in which the Court of Appeals agreed that his offender score had been incorrectly calculated, Mr.

Macias was returned to the sentencing court. CP 24. At his de novo re-sentencing, the defense challenged the inclusion of Mr.

Macias' 2008 conviction in his offender score, where it had been secured in adult court with no analysis of the Kent factors for purposes of juvenile decline. CP 35. This rendered the 2008 conviction facially invalid, leaving Mr. Macias with an offender score of 2, rather than 3. CP 37. The re-sentencing

court disagreed, and included the offense in Mr. Macias' score. RP 89-90.

Mr. Macias also sought an exceptional sentence below the standard range – asking for 42 months on the conviction for second degree murder, which would run concurrent to the count of unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 91; CP 32. The defendant would then serve a 60 month firearm enhancement following the murder count. CP 32.

Mr. Macias supported his motion, which was based on several mitigating factors, with two pre-sentencing reports, and a forensic neuropsychological report by Dr. Marnee Milner, prepared prior to the re-sentencing hearing. CP 32, 66, 131.

Dr. Milner also testified at the re-sentencing hearing. RP 7-72. With regard to the legislation regarding juvenile points scoring enacted prior to Mr. Macias' remand for re-sentencing, counsel relied on the legislature's statement in seeking a downward departure sentence, also based on other grounds. RP 77-79; CP 47-48; see infra.

The re-sentencing court denied the defense motion. The court's reasoning can only be read as an affirmative rejection of the proposition that a person's conduct could possibly be mitigated by "mental health diagnoses, traumas, PTSD, adverse childhood events and so forth," since Mr. Macias appeared to advance forward to shoot Mr. Esparza. RP 112.

The court did not credit the theory that Mr. Macias' developmental disorders and PTSD heightened his perception of threat and caused him to act with the impulsivity of a person without his frontal lobe deficiencies, therefore rejecting the notion of a failed defense. RP 112.

The trial court did not substantively evaluate the issue of Mr. Macias' 2008 juvenile convictions and whether they were a mitigating factor. RP 111-14.

The court sentenced Mr. Macias on an offender score of 3. CP 466-69. He was given 240 months on the murder count (with 34 months concurrent on the unlawful possession of a

firearm), along with a 60 month firearm enhancement. CP 468-69. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Appx.

#### **E. ARGUMENT**

# (1). At <u>de novo</u> re-sentencing, Juan Macias was entitled to an exceptional sentence below the standard range.

The defense motion for an exceptional sentence was supported by forensic reports from two evaluators and by the June 16, 2023 report and testimony of Dr. Marnee Milner. CP 131; CP 53 (Barrett report); CP 66 (Dr. Fabian report). In addition. testimony was taken of Dr. Milner at the December 1, 2023 re-sentencing hearing. RP 1 to 120 (Transcript, with Index at pp. 1-38); see RP 74-79 (argument regarding juvenile record).

Review is warranted where court's failure to exercise discretion is itself an abuse of discretion. State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 697, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). Here, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

a. Mitigating factors can support an exceptional sentence where there are compelling reasons to impose a downward departure sentence and the term proposed is not clearly too lenient.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act, a sentencing court has the discretion to impose a sentence that departs from the standard range when it finds "that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.390. A number of mitigating factors are expressly recognized by the legislature, but the statutory list of mitigating factors is not exclusive.

b. <u>Standard of review - failure to address all proffered</u> mitigating factors.

Generally, the standard of review of a sentencing court's decision to deny an exceptional sentence is abuse of discretion. State v. McGill, 112 Wn. App. 95, 100, 47 P.3d 173 (2002). However, where the sentencing court failed to properly consider all of the mitigating factors proffered by Mr. Macias, this is legal error in the form of a failure to exercise discretion, which is itself an abuse of discretion, subject to reversal. State

<u>v. O'Dell</u>, 183 Wn.2d at 697; <u>State v. Grayson</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 342.

Courts also review <u>de novo</u> whether proffered mitigating reasons justify departing from the standard range. <u>State v. Law</u>, 154 Wn.2d 85, 94, 110 P.3d 717 (2005). In Mr. Macias' case, the psychological assessments of several experts and in particular Dr. Marnee Milner revealed disorders that ran in common through the several statutory mitigating factors Mr. Macias proffered with regard to the current offenses. See infra.

In addition, the sentencing court failed to recognize the legal import, nor did it substantively consider, the non-statutory mitigating factor that Mr. Macias' prior record was composed of offenses committed with lessened culpability, when he was a juvenile - a sentencing consideration that Mr. Macias, for no substantive reason except the date of enactment of a new law could not take advantage of for purposes of his offender score. See Part E.1(e), infra.

c. <u>Impaired capacity and a perception of threat resulting in a "failed defense" are statutory mitigating factors which are interrelated in this case, as a result of Mr. Macias' PTSD and neurodevelopmental disorders.</u>

Our state recognizes the mitigating factor that "[t]he defendant's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct, or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law, was significantly impaired." RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e); see, e.g., State v. Smith, 139 Wn. App. 600, 601, 161 P.3d 483 (2007) (in rape of a child case, court lawfully imposed downward departure where the defendant's developmental delay resulted in significant impairment of his capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct).

In addition, the Legislature has determined that a failed defense may constitute a mitigating factor supporting an exceptional sentence below the standard range. State v. Jeannotte, 133 Wn.2d 847, 851, 947 P.2d 1192 (1997). Commentators have emphasized that this mitigating factor in the SRA allows leniency where circumstances exist which

warrant an instruction on self-defense – but the jury convicts nonetheless. State v. Hutsell, 120 Wn.2d 913, 921, 845 P.2d 1325 (1993) (citing D. Boerner, *Sentencing in Washington*, section 9–23 (1985). See RCW 9.94A.535(c) (the defendant committed the crime under duress or threat insufficient to constitute a complete defense but which significantly affected his or her conduct).

- d. Mr. Macias' capacity was significantly impaired, and his disorders, including a heightened sense of fear, caused him to lack a capacity to appreciate wrongfulness, and caused him to believe he was rightly defending himself.
  - (i).Dr. Marnee Miller first reviewed the prior evaluations of Mr. Macias.

As shown by the reports and testimony of medical professionals, Mr. Macias was suffering from significant mental and developmental deficits at the time of the offense, which also continue to this day. Dr. Marnee Milner evaluated Juan Macias beginning in December 7, 2022, for purposes of the present re-sentencing. CP 131. As noted at sentencing by counsel and by Dr. Milner, Mr. Macias has a long history of

mental illness, including a serious suicide attempt shortly before the charged incident; as a result, he was prescribed psychiatric medications at the jail following his arrest. CP 131; RP 35, 44-47.

Dr. Milner's evaluation of Mr. Macias was independent, and expansive, and included a review of prior evaluations for purposes of Mr. Macias' first sentencing - including assessments of Mr. Macias with which Dr. Milner agreed. One of the prior evaluators, Dr. Barrett, detailed a number of risk factors for impulsive conduct without thought - abusive physical discipline, exposure to other domestic violence, and experiences of community violence. CP 57; RP 46. And Dr. Fabian reported that Mr. Macias has a full-scale IQ of 79 - full scale, or FSIQ, being a measure of a person's overall intellectual and cognitive functioning. CP 38. This placed Mr. Macias in the 8th percentile, categorizing him as being within the mildly impaired to borderline impaired range. CP 38.

The consequences of Juan's family life and developmental deficits also included a neurocognitive disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). CP 38-39. These foundational deficits went directly to his mental state on 2018.

Dr. Fabian reached definitive conclusions regarding capacity and perception as affected by Juan's neurodevelopmental disorders - his expert opinion was that Juan's "ability to deliberate was "compromised by these impairments and conditions," which caused him to overreact and put himself in an immediate defensive survival mode out of fear. CP 39, 43, 108-09.

(ii).Dr. Milner determined that Mr. Macias had limited capacity to appreciate wrongful conduct and a heightened sense of fear.

In addition to the doctors' conclusions being validated by Dr.

Milner, who conducted the most recent psychological
evaluation of Juan, Milner reached her own detained
conclusions. When this case was reversed and the full de novo
re-sentencing was set, the defense was permitted to retain Dr.

Milner, who also has a law degree. CP 40. Dr. Milner's independent diagnosis of Juan Macias focused first on the determination that he suffered from complex PTSD. CP 139.

Dr. Milner believed that Mr. Macias' diagnosed psychological functioning around the time of the charged incident - and the fact that he had never had access to treatment - was the cause of his actions. CP 140. Milner believed that Mr. Macias had longstanding cognitive, emotional, social, physiological, and behavioral dysfunctions which led up to his behavior and psychological state on or before the time of the 2018 criminal incident – yet, Milner noted, Mr. Macias has never received empirically based mental health treatment for his childhood trauma."). CP 41.

Although Mr. Macias was 27 years old at the time of the current offense, his mental deficits were inextricably linked to the same sort of mental incapacity associated with youth. Dr. Milner reported that Mr. Macias' cognitive deficits, and his approximate IQ of 79, were outwardly manifested by

observable deficits in frontal lobe functions and therefore severe deficits in impulsivity. CP 141. Mr. Macias' preexisting mental deficits precluded him from any ability to function as an adult on February 7, 2018. CP 141.

Dr. Milner made clear that she believed that Mr.

Macias's impaired capacity at the time of the charged incident, when combined with the fact that Mr. Macias had recently been robbed by the decedent at gunpoint, caused him to think he was going to die. CP 144. In Dr. Milner's words, these mental deficits were in accord with the fact that when Mr.

Macias "saw his physically larger assailant, [he] reported feeling panicked and told police he just reacted and that he did not want to get shot." CP 144. Dr. Milner stated,

This is a classic flight or fight response consistent with PTSD in which the limbic system (the emotional center of the brain) overrides the prefrontal cortex (the logical, executive functioning, decision-making portion of the brain). Mr. Macias seems to have been emotionally flooded and unable to access his ability to think logically and rationally.

CP 144.

In law, given the interplay of a lack of full mental capacity and actions taken in self-defense where a perceived threat was less grave than it may have been, Dr. Milner's expert assessment supported a finding by the re-sentencing court that "[t]he defendant's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct, or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law, was significantly impaired." RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e).

Dr. Milner concurred with Dr. Fabian's ultimate conclusion that Mr. Macias' "complex trauma and PTSD and [an] especially recent traumatic death threat by the alleged victim." along with his neurodevelopmental disorders indicated "a significantly diminished . . . capacity to act with premeditated intent at the time of the charged offense." CP 144.

Further, Mr. Macias' heightened perception of fear, likely leading to a failed defense of self-defense, was directly related to his cognitive impairments - the threat he faced on July 7 of 2018 was, in his mind, all too real. See, e.g., State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d 125, 137, 736 P.2d 1065 (1987) (manslaughter conviction warranted downward departure after failure of claim of self-defense based on battered woman syndrome).

e. The fact that Juan Macias' prior convictions for purposes of his offender score were committed when he was the age of a juvenile is a mitigating factor.

### (i). Review is warranted.

Punishment should be proportional to the crime committed. Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367, 30 S. Ct. 544, 54 L. Ed. 793 (1910); State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, 91, P.3d 343 (2018); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 14. In light of this principle, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that individuals with "lessened culpability are less deserving of

the most severe punishments." <u>Graham v. Florida</u>, 560 U.S. 48, 68, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010).

The question of lessened culpability related to offenses committed by persons within the age range of juvenile to youthful adults is a rapidly developing area of case law in Washington, and this Supreme Court has held that trial courts have always possessed the authority - and indeed are required to consider age at the time of the offense - when issuing sentence, even as the scope of that existing authority has been set forth in very recent decisions. State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 9, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 695-96; In re Monschke, 197 Wn.2d 305, 306, 482 P.3d 276 (2021).

The notion that these principles regarding age, culpability and sentencing cannot include consideration of age at the time of prior offenses as a mitigating factor permissible for a trial court to consider for an exceptional sentence downward implicates constitutional protections and conflicts with

decisions of this Court. Review is warranted in the present case under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

#### (ii). This issue may be raised and requires relief.

Prior to Mr. Macias' re-sentencing hearing, this amendment, House Bill 1324, was signed into law on May 11, 2023, with an effective date of July 23, 2023. See RCW 9.94A.525(1). Under the legislative intent section of HB 1324, the legislature stated that sentencing of an adult based in part on prior juvenile offenses offends due process and Washington's recognition that prior crimes committed by juveniles result in disproportionate punishment for later adults. The Statement of Intent states that this legislation is intended to:

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