FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/3/2025 4:27 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 104263-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUAN JOSE MACIAS,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

> MARGO H. MARTIN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals' holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Macias's motion for an exceptional sentence below the standard range?
- 2. Should this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision not to review the determination that his youth at the time of a prior 2008 conviction was not a mitigating factor for his current convictions because the question had been previously decided on his prior appeal?
- 3. Should this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals' holding that Macias's 2008 conviction was not constitutionally invalid on its face?

D. <u>STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW</u>

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). This case presents none of the above criteria.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 7, 2018, Macias shot 16-year-old Dallas Esparza four times, killing the boy, as Esparza fled from Macias's friends. CP 24-25. The State charged Macias with first-degree murder and first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm (UPFA). CP 1, 25.

At trial, Macias claimed self-defense. CP 25. He argued that he was fearful of Esparza because the teen was part of a group who had robbed Macias several weeks earlier. CP 25. As stated above, the jury rejected Macias's self-defense claim and convicted him of second-degree murder. CP 25. The trial court, by bench trial, found him guilty of firearm possession. CP 24-25, 466.

At sentencing, Macias asked the trial court to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range, arguing that he suffered from neurodevelopmental disorders that diminished his capacity to conform his behavior to the law; that Esparza was the primary aggressor to a significant degree; and because of his failed self-defense claim. CP 26. Macias also argued that his youth at the time of a prior conviction in 2008, for second-degree robbery, was a mitigating circumstance for the current murder and UPFA crimes. CP 17, 26; RP 75-78. The State requested a standard-range sentence. CP 12, 26; RP 106. The trial court imposed a sentence of 300 months, including a

deadly weapon enhancement, amounting to 25 months less than the high end of the standard range as calculated by the parties.

CP 12, 14, 26.

Macias appealed the sentence, arguing that a prior felony conviction (not the 2008 conviction) should not have been counted in his offender score because it had "washed out." CP 24, 26; *State v. Macias*, No. 81677-2-I (unpublished, December 27, 2021), 2021 WL 6111686 at *1. The State conceded that the sentencing range indeed had been improperly calculated because it included a point for the prior washed-out conviction. CP 12, 17, 24, 26-27; *Macias*, 2021 WL 6111686 at *2.

Macias also claimed on appeal that the trial court erred by refusing to consider that his youth at the time of the prior 2008 conviction (properly included in the offender score) was a mitigating factor which warranted an exceptional sentence below the standard range in his current sentence. CP 26. The Court of Appeals remanded for resentencing on the corrected offender score but held that Macias's youth at the time of the

2008 conviction was not a mitigating factor as to the current convictions. CP 24, 27, 30; *Macias*, 2021 WL 6111686 at *4. "Macias fails to explain how his youth when he committed crimes in 2008 relates to the commission of the current crime," the Court of Appeals said. *Macias*, 2021 WL 6111686 at *3. The Court of Appeals remanded for re-sentencing on a corrected offender score. CP 31; Macias, 2021 WL 6111686 at *4. Macias petitioned for review of the Court of Appeals' holding that youth at the time of a prior offense was not a mitigating factor as to the current convictions to support an exceptional sentence downward. Petition for Review at 5-6, State v. Macias, 100593-8. This Court denied review. State v. Macias, 199 Wn.2d 1014, 508 P.3d 675 (2022).

At resentencing in Superior Court, Macias's offender score was recalculated to be 2 on the UPFA conviction, and 3 on the murder conviction, based on the proper inclusion of Macias's 2008 conviction for second-degree robbery. CP 787-89. The standard range for the murder conviction, including the

deadly-weapon enhancement, was 214 to 314 months. CP 467, 787-89.

Macias argued at resentencing, much like at the original sentencing, that the court should impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range, because his "capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct, or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of the law was significantly impaired." CP 33, quoting RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e); RP 95. Macias again argued that Esparza was "an initiator, willing participant, aggressor or provoker of the incident," based on Esparza's alleged role in a prior robbery of Macias. CP 33, quoting RCW 9.94A.535(1)(a); RP 92-95. Finally, Macias again argued that his youthfulness at the time of his 2008 second-degree robbery was a mitigating circumstance justifying a downward departure from the standard range in the current case. CP 33; RP 95-96.

In addition to the request for an exceptional sentence,

Macias argued at resentencing, for the first time, that his 2008

robbery conviction should not count in his offender score because there allegedly had not been a proper juvenile jurisdictional decline procedure in that case. CP 35-37; RP 74-77.

Macias presented Dr. Marnee Milner, a forensic neuropsychologist, who opined that Macias's life circumstances left him with psychological and neuropsychological impairments that affected his judgment and decision-making.

CP 148; RP 7-71. Milner also concluded that Macias "tends to misperceive threats and responds in a heightened defensive, reactive and emotional state." CP 148.

The resentencing judge asked additional questions of Milner, including how her opinion differed from an opinion given by a different doctor in Macias's first sentencing. RP 62-69. Milner said her opinion did not differ from the previous opinion. RP 68-69. The resentencing court also asked Milner whether there was anything that the court should consider on resentencing that had not been available during the prior

sentencing, and Milner said there was not "anything new." RP 69. Macias also presented reports from two other psychologists who had evaluated Macias, including the doctor from the first sentencing. CP 32-166.

The State presented a report and statements of Dr. Julia McLawsen, who did not find any evidence that Macias was mentally ill at the time he killed Esparza, but could not say for certain beyond her opinion that Macias's reports of mental illness were "improbable and unlikely to reflect actual mental illness." CP 258-312. McLawsen's testing led her to believe that Macias was likely malingering, i.e., misrepresenting, exaggerating, or distorting his mental-illness symptoms. CP 263, 265-68, 272.

Prior to imposing sentence, the resentencing court said it had considered the testimony of Milner, the probable-cause certification, the prosecutor's summary, the information, the briefing provided by the parties, all the supporting materials provided by both parties, a victim statement from Esparza's

grandfather, the Court of Appeals' opinion from Macias's prior appeal, and the court's own notes from the prior sentencing.

RP 111. The resentencing court noted that while Macias presented witnesses who suggested that Macias was "acting in a kind of fight-or-flight situation... Not only was that not persuasive to the jury, it's not persuasive to the court here for sentencing." RP 111-13.

The court again declined to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range. RP 111-14. The court again sentenced Macias to a total of 300 months on the murder including the 60-month deadly weapon enhancement. CP 467, 469; RP 112-13. This sentence was 14 months lower than the high end of the corrected standard range for second-degree murder. CP 467.

Macias appealed the sentence imposed in the resentencing. CP 478. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting Macias's motion for an exceptional sentence

downward and imposing a standard-range sentence. *Macias*, 2025 WL 1294182 at *4. The Court of Appeals also held that Macias's 2008 conviction was not constitutionally invalid on its face. *Id.* at *5.

Macias now seeks review of that opinion.

F. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY MACIAS'S PETITION
FOR REVIEW BECAUSE HIS CASE NEITHER
CONFLICTS WITH ANY SUPREME COURT
DECISION NOR PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT
QUESTION OF LAW

Macias argues that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3), asserting that he presents significant questions of law under the Washington or federal constitutions and that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court. The Court of Appeals' opinion presents no such issues.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT THE RESENTENCING COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING MACIAS'S MOTION FOR AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE DOWNWARD NEITHER CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS NOR PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION.

Macias asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision that the resentencing court did not abuse its discretion by denying Macias's request for an exceptional sentence downward on the basis of several statutory mitigating factors.

Macias fails to establish that the Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with any decisions of this Court or presents a significant question of law under the Washington constitution.

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

The resentencing court made clear that it did not find the testimony and documentation presented by Macias to be compelling. RP 111-13. The Court of Appeals held that the resentencing court properly exercised its discretion when it considered Macias's evidence and concluded that an

exceptional sentence was not appropriate. *Macias*, 2025 WL 1294182 at *4. Macias's petition for review seeks to relitigate the quality and quantity of the evidence he presented at resentencing and ignores the resentencing court's express finding that the evidence was unpersuasive. Macias fails to explain how this decision presents a significant question of constitutional law or how it conflicts with any decision of this Court.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DETERMINATION THAT THE LAW-OF-THE-CASE DOCTRINE APPLIED TO THE QUESTION OF WHETHER MACIAS'S YOUTH AT THE TIME OF A 2008 CONVICTION WAS NOT A MITIGATING FACTOR FOR SENTENCING ON THE CURRENT OFFENSE NEITHER CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT, NOR PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION.

The Court of Appeals, in the first appeal, decided that Macias's youth at the time of a 2008 conviction was not a mitigating factor as to his current convictions in Macias's first appeal. *Macias*, 2021 WL 6111686 at *4. This Court denied

review of that opinion. Still, Macias raised the issue again in his appeal from resentencing, and the Court of Appeals declined to consider the issue again, finding that it fell under the law-of-the-case doctrine. *Macias*, 2025 WL 1294182 at *4. An appellate court will generally refuse to consider issues that were decided in a prior appeal. *Folsom v. County of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263-64, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988). Macias makes no attempt to explain why the Court of Appeals' decision not to review the issue conflicts with decisions of this court or presents a significant issue under constitutional law. It does not. The Court of Appeals' decision not to review the issue again is consistent with existing law.

Moreover, as noted above, Macias previously petitioned for review on this very issue, and this Court denied review. *See* Petition for Review, *State v. Macias*, 100593-8 at 14; *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1014, 508 P.3d 675 (2022). Macias's current petition relies on the same authority as before, namely *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017),

State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 539 (2015), In re

Pers. Restraint of Monschke, 197 Wn.2d 605, 482 P.3d 276

(2021), and State v. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d 809, 446 P.3d 609

(2019). See Petition for Review, 104263-9 at 18, 23. Macias has not shown any compelling reason that his arguments are worthy of review now when they were not three years ago.

Nothing has changed. The Court should again deny review.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT MACIAS'S 2008 CONVICTION WAS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID ON ITS FACE NEITHER CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS NOR PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE WASHINGTON OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

A conviction is constitutionally invalid on its face if, without further elaboration, it evidences infirmities of a constitutional magnitude. *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 188, 713 P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986). Here, the Court of Appeals held that Macias failed to show his 2008 conviction was constitutionally invalid on its face. *Macias*, 86055-1, 2025

WL 1294182 at 5. This decision is consistent with *State v. Inocencio*, which held that prior convictions, committed while Inocencio was a juvenile but entered by an adult court, were properly included in his offender score for a subsequent conviction without the State having to prove the prior sentencing court's jurisdiction. 187 Wn. App. 765, 767, 351 P.3d 183 (2015). The Court of Appeals opinion here does not conflict with *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, nor, as analyzed in detail by the Court of Appeals, does it conflict with *State v. Saenz*, 175 Wn.2d 167, 283 P.3d 1094 (2012), or *State v. Knippling*, 166 Wn.2d 93, 206 P.3d 332 (2009). *Macias*, 86055-1, 2025 WL 1294182 at 4-5.

Macias's 2008 conviction was not invalid on its face.

This Court should deny Macias's petition for review because he does not present a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution and the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with decisions from this Court.

G. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, Macias's petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 2,379 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 3^{rd} day of July, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

MARGO H. MARTIN, WSBA #45252 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEYS OFFICE, CRIMINAL/APPELLATE UNIT

July 03, 2025 - 4:27 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 104,263-9

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Juan Jose Macias

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1042639_Answer_Reply_20250703162549SC254095_7211.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 104263-9 - Answer to Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• oliver@washapp.org

paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

· wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Kris Bridgman - Email: kris.bridgman@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Margo Helen Martin - Email: margo.martin@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address:

516 3rd Avenue Room W-400

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-1120

Note: The Filing Id is 20250703162549SC254095